ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. 	 The Circuit Court erred in denying Camden-Clark Memorial Hospital Corporation's 

("CCMC") motion to dismiss, or in the alternative, motion for summary judgment 

because qualified immunity protects CCMC from judicial review of the eligibility criteria 

it requires for physician appointment to its medical staff. 

2. 	 The Circuit Court erred in denying CCMC's motion to dismiss or in the alternative, 

motion for summary judgment because Respondent, by his application for appointment to 

the medical staff, as well as his acceptance of CCMC's medical staff bylaws, released 

CCMC from any and all liability for its good faith actions taken respecting his application 

for re-appointment. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This case involves the termination of Dr. Tuan Nguyen's employment from Camden-

Clark Physician Corporation ("CCPC") as a result of his failure to meet the eligibility criteria for 

re-appointment to the medical staff of Camden Clark Medical Center ("CCMC,,).l The CCMC 

medical staff bylaws credentials policy sets out the minimum requirements physicians must meet 

to be eligible to apply for appointment to the medical staff. One of the threshold eligibility 

criteria is that the physician be, or become, board certified within five years of completing 

residency training. Dr. Nguyen was not board certified when he applied for re-appointment to 

the medical staff of Camden-Clark Medical Center in 2013. Accordingly, because he failed to 

I Camden-Clark Memorial Hospital Corporation does business as Camden Clark Medical Center. 
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meet the eligibility criteria for medical staff appointment, CCMC declined to consider Dr. 

Nguyen's application for re-appointment. 

Respondent Dr. Tuan Nguyen is a 2002 graduate of the University of Tennessee College 

of Medicine. (JA 156.) In 2008, Dr. Nguyen completed his residency and earned his license to 

practice medicine in West Virginia. Id. From 2008 until 2013, Dr. Nguyen was employed by 

CCPC2 and practiced medicine at CCMC. (JA 58.) CCPC, which is not a party to this appeal, 

employs certain (but not all) physicians who are appointed to the medical staff of CCMC. (JA 

115.) 

Pursuant to Dr. Nguyen's contract with CCPC, his employment was contingent on his 

ability to maintain appointment to the medical staff of CCMC. (JA 164.) Specifically, Dr. 

Nguyen's contract required that Dr. Nguyen shall "meet and continue to meet the Eligibility 

Criteria and other requirements for active medical staff appointment and re-appointment set forth 

in the Medical Staff Bylaws, Credentials Policy and/or other policies, procedures and rules and 

regulations of the Hospital and its medical staff from time to time." Id. Further, Section 12 of 

his employment contract provided that Dr. Nguyen "shall obtain and maintain active medical 

staff appointment and clinical privileges at the Hospital . . .. Application for the same shall be 

processed pursuant to the applicable bylaws and policies of the Hospital and its Medical Staff." 

(JA 169.) Finally, the contract provided that "[i]n the event the Physician's medical staff 

appointment or clinical privileges are terminated pursuant to the hearing and appeals procedure 

2 CCMC employs no physicians other than certain medical residents in training. (JA 265.) Members of 
CCMC's medical staff are responsible for making appointments and re-appointments to the medical staff. 
Id. 

2 
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set forth in the Hospital's medical staff bylaws or credentialing policies, then the Physician's 

employment shall automatically terminate." (JA 169-70.) 

In 2008, CCMC appointed Dr. Nguyen to its medical staff for an initial one year period 

consistent with its bylaws and policies. (JA 266.) Dr. Nguyen then signed a four-year 

employment contract with CCPC. Id In 2009, CCMC re-appointed Dr. Nguyen to its medical 

staff for two more years. Id In 2011, CCMC again re-appointed Dr. Nguyen to its medical staff 

for a two year term. However, when Dr. Nguyen sought to apply for re-appointment in the fall 

of 2013, CCMC learned that Dr. Nguyen had not yet obtained his board certification. CCMC 

therefore declined to review his application for re-appointment because he failed to meet the 

threshold criteria for eligibility. 

CCMC's medical staff bylaws identify the eligibility criteria for appointment and re

appointment. Most notably, the bylaws require that physicians must be 

...board certified in their primary area of practice at the Hospital. 
Those applicants who are not board certified at the time of 
application but who have completed their residency or fellowship 
training within the last five years will be eligible for Medical Staff 
appointment. However, in order to remain eligible, those 
applicants must achieve board certification in their primary area 
of practice within five (5) years from the date of completion of 
their residency or fellowship training. (This requirement is 
applicable only to those individuals for initial staff appointment 
after the date of adoption of this Policy. All individuals appointed 
previously will be governed by the board certification requirements 
in effect at the time of their appointments). 

(JA 189-90 (emphasis added).) As such, Dr. Nguyen met these criteria for his initial 

appointment in 2008 and his re-appointments in 2009 and 2011 because five years had not 

elapsed from the completion of his residency. But, by the time Dr. Nguyen submitted his 

application for re-appointment in 2013, that five-year window had closed and Dr. Nguyen was 

still not board certified. 

3 

4829-8955-6027.v5 



Dr. Nguyen acknowledged his failure to obtain board certification in a letter to the 

CCMC board. (JA 249.) Dr. Nguyen wrote, "I have not obtained surgical board certification at 

this time .... I take full responsibility for not having obtained my board certification." Id. Dr. 

Nguyen claims that it was "very difficult to prepare for this rigorous exam being in solo practice 

in the last year." Id. Nothing in the record, however, indicates that Dr. Nguyen raised these 

concerns before the five-year deadline to become board certified expired. 

Because Dr. Nguyen was not board certified, he was ineligible for re-appointment to the 

medical staff and CCMC declined to review his application. (JA 250.) On October 17, 2013, 

Tom Heller, Vice President of Operations for CCMC, notified Dr. Nguyen that "[i]n accordance 

with the Medical Staff Bylaws and Credentialing Policy, you are not eligible to apply for re

appointment to the Medical Staff of Camden-Clark Medical Center due to your failure to obtain 

Board certification in your primary area of practice at the hospital." Id. 

Pursuant to Dr. Nguyen's employment contract with CCPC, which mandated that Dr. 

Nguyen's employment was contingent on maintaining appointment to the medical staff of 

CCMC, CCPC terminated Dr. Nguyen's employment. (JA 251.) CCPC notified Dr. Nguyen on 

October 29, 2013, that his employment contract was to be terminated effective November 30, 

2013, pursuant to Section 13 of the agreement. Id. 

Importantly, the letter also informed Dr. Nguyen that pursuant to his employment 

contract, Dr. Nguyen was responsible for purchasing "tail insurance," which would cover claims 

arising during the course of Dr. Nguyen's employment. (JA 251-52.) The contract specifically 

provided that should Dr. Nguyen's employment be terminated for failure to maintain his 

appointment to the medical staff, Dr. Nguyen must "at his sole cost and expense, procure and 

maintain an extension of coverage, commonly known as a Reporting Endorsement or Tail 

4 

4829-8955-6027.v5 

http:4829-8955-6027.v5


Coverage ...." (JA 164.) Dr. Nguyen failed to fulfill this contractual obligation to obtain tail 

coverage upon termination ofhis employment. 

Accordingly, CCPC obtained a tail insurance policy for Dr. Nguyen at an expense of 

$67,022. (JA 259.) CCPC initiated a breach of contract action to seek damages from Dr. 

Nguyen for his failure to obtain tail insurance. (JA 6-10 (Complaint).) Dr. Nguyen then alleged 

five counterclaims against CCPC, including breach of contract, breach of the covenant of good 

faith, violations of the West Virginia Patient Safety Act, and retaliatory discharge, as well as a 

claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress. (JA 30-34 (Answer & Counterclaim).) Dr. 

Nguyen alleged that "CCPC knew or should have known that it was unlikely Dr. Nguyen would 

become board certified by the fifth anniversary of his hiring date." (JA 30.) Dr. Nguyen further 

alleged that CCPC's decision to terminate Dr. Nguyen-despite its compliance with the plain 

language of the employment contract-was done maliciously, in an effort to punish Dr. Nguyen 

for numerous reasons.3 (JA 30-34.) 

Later, Dr. Nguyen amended his counterclaim to include a third-party complaint against 

CCMC, and its parent corporation, Camden-Clark Health Services, Inc.4 In addition to his prior 

claims against CCPC, Dr. Nguyen added CCMC as a third-party defendant for three specific 

claims: violations of the West Virginia Patient Safety Act, retaliatory discharge, and intentional 

infliction ofemotional distress. (JA 141-43.) 

CCMC moved to dismiss those claims on the grounds that its decisions respecting the 

criteria for eligibility for appointment to the medical staff of the hospital are afforded immunity 

3 As for specific allegations, Dr. Nguyen contends that CCPC terminated Dr. Nguyen in retaliation for 
"good faith reports and advocacy," and because of his "cooperation with and his support for Dr. Petrov." 
(JA 33-34 (Dr. Petrov is a physician now engaged in litigation against CCPC over an unrelated matter.).) 

4 Camden-Clark Health Services, Inc. is not a party to this appeal. 

5 
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under West Virginia law. As explained further below, this Court has held that private hospitals 

are immune from suits challenging a hospital's decisions regarding appointments to its medical 

staff. See Mahmoodian v. United Hosp. Ctr., Inc., 185 W. Va. 59,404 S.E.2d 750 (1991). As 

such, the Circuit Court was permitted only to review whether CCMC's medical staff bylaws and 

credentials policy provide for a fair procedure, and whether that procedure was followed. In this 

case, CCMC never reviewed Dr. Nguyen's application for re-appointment because he failed to 

meet the threshold eligibility criteria to even apply for appointment. Requiring physicians on its 

medical staff to be board certified in their primary area of practice is an imminently reasonable 

requirement ofwhich Dr. Nguyen was well aware from the time he signed his initial employment 

contract with CCPC and obtained his first appointment to the medical staff of CCMC. CCMC is 

immune from Dr. Nguyen's third-party claims. 

Nonetheless, the Circuit Court denied CCMC's motion. Specifically, the court held that 

"Dr. Nguyen's claims are not prohibited by Sams or Mahmoodian." (JA 435.) The court 

explained only that the Patient Safety Act was passed in 2001, well after the Mahmoodian 

decision was issued, and that "[t]he exceptions ofMahmoodian would allow, at least at this stage 

in the proceeding, for Dr. Nguyen's claims to continue through discovery." Id. The trial court 

did not elaborate on how the passage of the Patient Safety Act affected the clearly-articulated 

immunity afforded by Mahmoodian other than to say that in its judgment Mahmoodian "does not 

give the hospital unbridled authority to essentially do what they want." (JA 414.) CCMC now 

appeals that decision to this Court. 

6 
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 


Under this Court's prior holding in Mahmoodian v. United Hosp. etr., Inc., 185 W. Va. 

59,404 S.E.2d 750 (1991), Dr. Nguyen's third-party claims against CCMC should be dismissed 

because CCMC is immune from actions challenging its decisions to appoint, or decline to 

appoint physicians to its medical staff. 

Under Sams and Mahmoodian, this Court has made clear that a court may review only (1) 

whether CCMC's medical staff bylaws presented clearly articulated requirements for medical 

staff appointment; and (2) whether CCMC's refusal to consider Dr. Nguyen's application was 

consistent with those bylaws. This Court has also recognized that courts are not in position, nor 

do they have the expertise, to question the propriety ofa hospital's credentialing requirements. 

CCMC's bylaws are clear that to be eligible to apply for re-appointment to the medical 

staff in 2013, Dr. Nguyen had to be board certified. Dr. Nguyen was well aware of this 

requirement, but failed to do so. Therefore, CCMC did not review Dr. Nguyen's application for 

medical staff appointment. 

In this case, all of the claims Dr. Nguyen has asserted would require a court to analyze 

and consider other motives CCMC allegedly might have had for declining to review Dr. 

Nguyen's application for medical staff privileges and would deny the hospital the protections of 

immunity to which it is entitled for 1.) deciding that it wanted all of its medical staff to be board 

certified and 2.) merely following its bylaws in this regard by declining to consider Dr. Nguyen's 

application for privileges when he failed to meet the threshold eligibility criteria for appointment. 

This is precisely the immunity afforded hospitals under West Virginia law. Moreover, the fact 

that CCMC followed its bylaws precludes any finding of intentional wrongdoing that would be 

necessary to hold CCMC liable in tort. Therefore, consistent with the immunity articulated in 
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Mahmoodian, CCMC's compliance with its bylaws defeats all of Dr. Nguyen's claims against 

CCMC. 

Additionally, Dr. Nguyen waived his right to bring claims against CCMC for its 

credentialing decisions through two different voluntary waivers: a document prepared by the 

West Virginia Insurance Commissioner which includes language that precludes the physician 

from bringing suit against the credentialing hospital, and the CCMC bylaws themselves. 

Accordingly, CCMC seeks dismissal of Dr. Nguyen's claims against it. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Pursuant to Rule 18(a) of the Rules of Appellate Procedure, CCMC respectfully requests 

oral argument on this matter. CCMC submits that a hospital's ability to establish the criteria for 

appointment to its medical staff, outside the spectrum of judicial review, and then follow that 

criteria when deciding whether a physician is eligible to apply for appointment to the medical 

staff is an important issue. Thus, oral argument may aid this Court in reaching a decision in this 

matter. 

ARGUMENT 

I. 	 Standard of Review 

This Court has held that "[0 ]rdinarily the denial of a motion for failure to state a claim 

upon which relief can be granted made pursuant to West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure 

12(b)(6) is interlocutory and is, therefore, not immediately appealable." Syl. Pt. 2, State ex reI. 

Arrow Concrete Co. v. Hill, 194 W. Va. 239, 460 S.E.2d 54 (1995). But, this Court has also 

created an exception for defendants who claim qualified immunity: "A circuit court's denial of 

8 
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summary judgment that is predicated on qualified immunity is an interlocutory ruling which is 

subject to immediate appeal under the 'collateral order' doctrine." Syl. Pt. 2, Robinson v. Pack, 

223 W. Va. 828,679 S.E.2d 660 (2009). 

Since CCMC contends that it enjoys qualified immunity from the claims asserted against 

it, this Court should consider this appeal. See Jarvis v. W Va. State Police, 227 W. Va. 472, 

475-76, 711 S.E.2d 542, 545-46 (2010). This Court must review this appeal under a de novo 

standard. See id (citing Syl. Pt. 4, Ewing v. Bd 0/Educ. o/Cty. o/Summers, 202 W. Va. 228, 

503 S.E.2d 541 (1998)). 

II. 	 The Circuit Court erred in denying CCMC's motion to dismiss, or in the alternative, 
motion for summary judgment because this Court has held that a hospital is immune 
from review of its appointment decisions beyond a review of whether the hospital 
was in compliance with its bylaws. 

Dr. Nguyen's claims against CCMC must be dismissed because West Virginia law allows 

hospitals to establish criteria for medical staff appointments. The only "limited judicial review" 

available is to ensure that a hospital's bylaws contain fair provisions, clearly articulated 

expectations, and that the hospital complied with its own bylaws in making its credentialing 

decisions. Since the single eligibility requirement at issue here is clear (doctors on the medical 

staff must be board certified), and Dr. Nguyen failed to meet it. Thus, CCMC is immune from 

further litigation on this matter. Accordingly, Dr. Nguyen's claims against CCMC must be 

dismissed. 

A. 	CCMC is immune from litigation concerning its medical staff eligibility criteria 
and properly declined to review Dr. Nguyen's application for appointment to its 
medical staff. 

On two prior occasions, this Court has considered whether a court may review a private 

hospital's decision to deny credentials to a physician. In the first instance, this Court held that 

"[t]he governing authorities of a private hospital, in the exercise of their discretion, have the 

9 
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absolute right to exclude licensed physicians from its medical staff and such action is not subject 

to judicial review." Syl. Pt. 4, Sams v. Ohio Valley Gen. Hosp. Assn., 149 W. Va. 229, 140 

S.E.2d 457 (1965). This Court noted that "the overwhelming weight of authority, almost 

approaching unanimity" provided that when a hospital refuses to appoint a physician to its 

medical staff, "[t]he decision of the hospital authorities in such matters is final." Id at 238, 140 

S.E.2d at 462 (quoting Shulman v. Wash. Hosp. etr., 222 F. Supp. 59 (D.D.C. 1963)). 

This rule is sound because "Dludicial tribunals are not equipped to review the action of 

hospital authorities in selecting or refusing to appoint members of medical staffs, declining to 

renew appointments previously made, or excluding physicians or surgeons from hospital 

facilities." Shulman v. Wash. Hosp. Ctr., 222 F. Supp. 59, 64 (D.D.C. 1963) (emphasis added). 

Further, "[n]ecessarily hospitals endeavor to secure the most competent and experienced staff for 

their patients," therefore, "the courts are not in a position to substitute their judgment for that of 

professional groups." Id In fact, this is true despite "the fact that due to the shortcomings of 

human nature, an occasional injustice may result, because of clashes of personality or 

temperament, possible likes and dislikes, jealousy or differences of opinion. The Courts, 

however, do not sit to remedy every ill caused by frailties of mankind." Id As another court 

stated, "judges should not be flaunting the staff of Mercury and telling physicians how to run 

their profession." Khan v. Suburban Cmty. Hosp., 340 N.E.2d 398, 402 (Ohio 1976). 

Years later, this Court examined the right of a hospital to terminate the privileges of a 

physician already on a hospital's staff.s There, this Court held that a private hospital's refusal to 

re-appoint a physician's to its medical staff 

5 This Court noted the difference between Sams and Mahmoodian, specifically, that Sams "involved, 
however, the denial of an initial appointment to a private hospital's medical staff and did not speak to ... 

10 
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is subject to limited judicial review to ensure that there was 
substantial compliance with the hospital's medical staff bylaws 
governing such a decision, as well as to ensure that the medical 
staff bylaws afford basic notice and fair hearing procedures, 
including an impartial tribunal. 

Syl. Pt. 1, Mahmoodian v. United Hosp. etr., Inc., 185 W. Va. 59, 60, 404 S.E.2d 750, 751 

(1991). Thus, Mahmoodian provides that this Court may review only two things: (1) whether the 

hospital substantially complied with its own bylaws in determining not to re-appoint the 

physician; and (2) whether those bylaws afforded basic notice and fair hearing procedures. 

Regarding the second of those reviewable categories, this Court explained that 

[a] private or a public hospital ... may revoke or otherwise affect 
adversely the staff appointment of clinical privileges of a medical 
staff member only if, as an element of basic notice, the medical 
staff bylaws provide a reasonably definite standard proscribing the 
conduct upon which the revocation or other adverse action is 
based. 

Id. at SyI. Pt. 2. Additionally, this Court held that a private hospital's decision to take an adverse 

action against a staff member "will be sustained when, as an element of fair hearing procedures, 

there is substantial evidence supporting that decision." Id. at Syi. Pt. 4. Importantly, this Court 

also explained that the necessity for fair hearing procedures articulated in Mahmoodian is an 

element of a hospital's disciplinary proceedings. This Court stated that

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