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

held that the administrators could exclude whomever they liked: "The governing authorities of a 

private hospital, in the exercise of their discretion, have the absolute right to exclude licensed 

physicians from its medical staff and such action is not subject to judicial review." Syl. pt. 4, 

Sams. 

Notably, the physician in Sams did not have any pre-existing legal rights that were 

deserving of judicial protection: He was not an employee of the hospital or any of its affiliated 

companies and thus had no contractual rights; he had not suffered any alleged retaliation under 

the West Virginia Patient Safety Act and thus had no statutory cause of action; he was not the 

victim of any tort, such as the intentional infliction of emotional distress, and thus could not take 

advantage of the remedy provided to redress a wrong. He was simply a stranger who wished to 

force the hospital to accept him onto its staff. In that circumstance, this COUli deferred to the 

private hospital's business judgment. 

As with the business judgment rule in shareholder litigation, judicial deference to hospital 

administrators has its limits. This is shown by Mahmoodian. In that case, an obstetrician was on 

the medical staff of a private hospital. After the hospital revoked his staff privileges, the 
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Supreme Court held that the hospital's actions were subject to judicial review. The hospital's 

actions could be sCl1ltinized to ensure it honored the obstetrician's contractual rights: 

The decision of a private hospital to revoke, suspend, restrict or to refuse to renew 
the staff appointment or clinical privileges of a medical staff member is subject to 
limited judicial review to ensure that there was substantial compliance with the 
hospital's medical staff bylaws governing such a decision, as well as to ensure 
that the medical staff bylaws afford basic notice and fair hearing procedures, 
including an impartial tribunal. 

Syl. pt. 1, 185 W.Va. at 59, 404 S.E.2d at 750. 

This Court also indicated that it would constrain a hospital's discretion with staff 

revocations. Regardless of whether the hospital was private or public, the administrators could 

not revoke staff appointments unless they provided due process to the physicians by outlining the 

proscribed conduct: 

A private or a public hospital, regardless of the breadth of discretion that is 
extended to it, may revoke or otherwise affect adversely the staff appointment or 
clinical privileges of a medical staff member only if, as an element of basic 
notice, the medical staff bylaws provide a reasonably definite standard 
proscribing the conduct upon which the revocation or other adverse action is 
based. 

Id., syl. pt. 2. 

Along the same lines, the Court held that a private hospital could not revoke staff 

privileges unless it based its decision on substantial evidence: "The decision of a private hospital 

revoking or otherwise affecting adversely the staff appointment or clinical privileges of a 

medical staff member will be sustained when, as an element of fair hearing procedures, there is 

substantial evidence supporting that decision." Id., syl. pt. 4. 

The Patient Safety Act of 2001, W.Va. Code § 16-39-1 et seq., was enacted ten years 

after this Court decided Mahmoodian decision. The Act recognized that "health care workers are 

instrumental in providing quality patient care" but that they were often "reluctant to report ... 
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waste or wrongdoing" due to the "fear of retaliatory or discriminatory treatment." W.Va. Code § 

16-39-2. To encourage the reporting of waste and wrongdoing, the legislature granted health 

care workers such as Dr. Nguyen legal protection from retaliation and discrimination. W.Va. 

Code § 16-39-4. One of the protections granted was a private cause of action against a health 

care entity. W.Va. Code § 16-39-6(a). All three of the Camden-Clark entities fall under the 

statute's definition of a "health care entity." W.Va. Code § 16-39-3. By enacting the West 

Virginia Patient Safety Act, the Legislature intended that the actions of health care entities could 

be thoroughly examined in discovery and at trial. The Legislature certainly could have carved 

out an immunity or exception to the Patient Safety Act for decisions to revoke or suspend a 

health care professional's credentials or privileges had it wished to do so. 

As with any private employer, CCMH's actions are constrained by the law and subject to 

judicial review. If CCMH denied a physician's application for credentials because he was an 

African-American or a Hindu, would CCMH be able to hide behind Sams and Mahmoodian? Of 

course not. The aggrieved physician could bring an action against CCMH pursuant to the West 

Virginia Human Rights Act and full discovery would be permitted. See W.Va. Code § 5-11-9 

(prohibiting discrimination by "any employer"). If CCMH withdrew staff privileges because one 

of its physicians had filed workers' compensation claims, would CCMH be shielded from 

judicial scrutiny? Of course not. The physician would have a cause of action against CCMH 

and be pennitted full discovery. See W.Va. Code § 23-SA-1 ("No employer shall discriminate in 

any manner against any of his present or fonner employees because of such present or former 

employee's receipt of or attempt to receive benefits under this chapter."). 

Since Sams and Mahmoodian were decided, this Court has allowed a claim to proceed 

that was brought by a physician against a hospital that revoked his privileges for allegedly failing 
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to comply with statutory requirements for malpractice insurance. State ex ref. Hamrick v. Stucky, 

220 W.Va. 180, 640 S.E.2d 243 (2006). The plaintiff in Hamrick was a surgeon who had 

maintained a staff appointment and privileges at Charleston Area Medical Center ("CAMC") for 

approximately twenty years. To avoid the high cost of medical professional liability insurance, 

Dr. Hamrick chose to self-fund his coverage in the required amount of $1,000,000. CAMC 

subsequently revoked his privileges on the grounds that he did not maintain professional liability 

coverage as required by CAMe's Medical Staff Procedures Manual. 

Dr. Hamrick sued CAMC seeking, in part, a preliminary injunction prohibiting 

termination of his privileges. He appealed the Circuit Court's denial of the requested injunction, 

and this Court ordered a temporary injunction against CAMC with respect to Dr. Hamlick's 

medical privileges. The Hamrick case continued for more than three years, through discovery, 

various appeals, and finally a jury trial in which Dr. Hamrick prevailed. 

Courts in other jurisdictions have allowed physicians to assert claims against their former 

credentialing hospitals where, as here, a violation of a constitutional or statutory light was 

alleged. In Samuel v. Herrick Memorial Hosp., 201 F.3d 803, 834 (6th Cir. 2000), the Sixth 

Circuit COUli of Appeals pennitted claims of racial discrimination and violation of antitrust laws 

to proceed, while holding that jurisdiction did not exist for the plaintiffs tOliious interference 

claims arising from the suspension of his privileges. The Third Circuit Court of Appeals has 

allowed a doctor to assert a claim under the Americans with Disabilities Act when his privileges 

were suspended after he was diagnosed with attention deficit disorder. Menkowitz v. Pottstown 

Memorial Medical Center, 154 F.3d 113,123 (3rd Cir. 1998). 

Finally, the notion that hospitals' decisions are not subject to judicial review is 

inconsistent with the plethora of West Virginia statutes and regulations that govern the 

21 




operations of health care entities. Hospitals must be licensed. See W.Va. CSR § 27-9-l. 

Standards for the construction of a hospital's physical facilities are dictated. See W.Va. CSR § 

64-12-5. Hospitals are expressly required to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act. 

Id. Hospitals must provide the results of peer review, quality assessments, and performance 

improvement infonnation upon request by the West Virginia Department of Health and Human 

Resources. See W.Va. CSR § 64-12-15. In fact, the entirety of Chapter 16 of the West Virginia 

Code of State Regulations is devoted entirely to the regulation of public health, from provisions 

governing credentialing for health care practitioners (W.Va. CSR §16-1a-1, et seq.) to 

requirements for identification badges (W.Va. CSR §16-1c-1, et seq.). Chapter 16, Article 29b 

of the West Virginia Code was enacted to "protect the health and well-being of the citizens of 

this state by guarding against unreasonable loss of economic resources as well as to ensure the 

continuation of appropriate access to cost-effective, high-quality health care services." W.Va. 

Code § 16-29b-l. The Legislature is not worried about interference with a hospital's decisions by 

providing necessary regulation and oversight of its operations. CCMH is not exempt from any of 

these statutes or regulations, so how could it possibly be exempt from legislation as significant as 

the Patient Safety Act? 

West Virginia law grants limited deference to a hospital for certain good-faith business 

decisions; the law does not give any health care entity the absolute right to discriminate, to 

ignore contractual rights, to break its word, and to retaliate against physicians. Dr. Nguyen has 

alleged that CCMH failed to follow its own bylaws, which is precisely the claim that the West 

Virginia Supreme Court allowed to proceed in Mahmoodian. Dr. Nguyen also alleged that 

CCMH violated the Patient Safety Act when it refused to renew his privileges after he raised 

concerns about patient safety. Dr. Nguyen is not asking this Court to review "'why' a hospital 
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board decided to make board certification a requirement for its medical staff." Appellant's Brief 

at 12. He is asking the Court to hold CCMH accountable for violating the law and illegally 

retaliating against him for protecting the welfare of his patients. 

B. 	 CCMH waived the provision in its bylaws that required Dr. Nguyen to 
become board certified when its related corporation extended his 
employment agreement despite his lack of board certification. 

The three Camden-Clark entities are inextricably intertwined: David McClure is the 

current President of both CCHS and CCMH; Kathy Eddy is the President of CCPC and the 

Secretary and Director of the CCMH and CCHS; Todd A. Kruger holds himself out as being the 

General Counsel for CCPC and is also a Vice-President for both CCMH and CCHS. Michael 

King, then the President and CEO of CCHS, directed Rick Hamilton to terminate Dr. Nguyen's 

employment with CCPC based upon the CCMH's alleged decision not to renew Dr. Nguyen's 

credentials. Todd Kruger sent the demand letter for tail coverage premiums to Dr. Nguyen. 

These entities are inseparable. The same actors control all three. 

All three entities knew Dr. Nguyen had not yet completed the board certification process 

when CCPC negotiated the 2013 employment agreement with Dr. Nguyen. They also knew that 

it was impossible for Dr. Nguyen to adequately prepare for the Certifying Exam due to his 

surgical schedule and the fact that there was no other general surgeon who could cover for him 

while he studied. But as long as it suited Camden-Clark for Dr. Nguyen to remain on its medical 

staff without being board certified, it was willing to ignore the requirement. A few months later, 

when it wanted to get rid of Dr. Nguyen and avoid his concems regarding patient safety, 

Camden-Clark decided to enforce the board certification provision. Camden-Clark may not pick 

and choose when to enforce its bylaws or to obey the law - and celtainly not when the law at 

issue is intended to protect the health and welfare of hospital patients. 
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As described by the West Virginia Supreme Court, "[t]he doctrine of waiver focuses on 

the conduct of the party against whom waiver is sought, and requires that party to have 

intentionally relinquished a known right. There is no requirement of prejudice or detrimental 

reliance by the party asserting waiver." Potesta v. u.s. Fidelity & Guar. Co., 202 W.Va. 308, 

315, 504 S.E.2d 135, 142-43 (1998). In this case, CCPC re-negotiated Dr. Nguyen's 

employment agreement when it knew or should have known he had not yet become board 

certified and that it was impossible for him to do so by the fifth anniversary date. 

CCMH's position is that the status of Dr. Nguyen's board certification escaped the 

attention of CCHS and/or CCMH when his contract was renewed. This defies logic. At the time 

CCPC and Dr. Nguyen entered into the 2013 Agreement, both CCMH and CCPS knew or should 

have known that it was impossible for Dr. Nguyen to obtain board certification by the fifth 

anniversary of the completion of his residency. CCMH and CCPC implicitly waived that 

condition when CCPC extended Dr. Nguyen's contract despite his lack ofboard certification. 

C. 	 CCMH argues that Dr. Nguyen was not entitled to a hearing, then argues 
that he waived his right to a hearing. 

CCMH's third argument on appeal serves to illustrate Camden-Clark's pattern of abuse 

of Dr. Nguyen and the shell game it is trying to play with this Court. CCMH argued to the 

Circuit Comi that Dr. Nguyen failed to exhaust his administrative remedies. JA 276-278. Now 

it insists that he never was entitled to a hearing on CCMH's decision not to renew his credentials. 

These contradictory and disingenuous positions follow a long line of manipulation and 

dishonesty by Camden-Clark in its treatment of Dr. Nguyen. 

Dr. Nguyen deserves the chance to discover the extent to which his advocacy of patient 

safety factored into Camden-Clark's decision to push him out the door, as well as the extent to 

which his termination was motivated by Camden-Clark's greedy desire to sign an exclusive deal 
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with a physicians' group. While the Corporation has miiculated a reason for his termination, Dr. 

Nguyen is entitled to ascertain whether that reason is merely a pretext-as the discovery in 

Petrov certainly indicates. 

In Barefoot v. Sundale Nursing Home, 193 W.Va. 475,457 S.E.2d 152 (1995), the COUli 

held that a "finding of pretextuality allows a juror to reject a defendant's proffered reasons for a 

challenged employment action and, thus pennits the ultimate inference of discrimination." 

Further, in Skaggs v. Elk Run Coal Co., Inc., 198 W.Va. 51, 479 S.E.2d 561 (1996), the Court 

directed that "[i]n disparate treatment cases . . ., proof of pretext can by itself sustain a 

conclusion that the defendant engaged in unlawful discrimination." Although Barefoot and 

Skaggs involved discrimination claims, the Court has also extended the Skaggs standard to 

retaliatory discharge claims. See CSX Transportation, Inc. v. Smith, 229 W.Va. 316, 729 S .E.2d 

151 (2012). 

As Dr. Nguyen asserted in his counterclaim, CCPC and/or CCMH fired him for 

illegitimate reasons. First, Camden-Clark wanted to get rid of Dr. Nguyen so that it could sign 

an agreement with a third party vendor to be the exclusive provider of certain surgical services at 

the Hospital. Second, Camden-Clark wished to retaliate against Dr. Nguyen because he had 

expressed concerns about patient safety issues. Third, Camden-Clark wanted to retain the 

bargaining power associated with the noncompetition provision in the 2013 Agreement and to 

force Dr. Nguyen, rather than Camden-Clark, to incur the cost of tail coverage. To get rid of Dr. 

Nguyen, Camden-Clark seized on the fact that Dr. Nguyen had not yet completed his board 

certification tests. The senior medical staff of both CCPC and CCMH did not believe that the 

lack of board certification was a reason to tenninate Dr. Nguyen, but Mike King and his fellow 

Camden-Clark administrators were willing to use this pretext to get rid of Dr. Nguyen. 
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Under West Virginia law, "summary judgment is appropriate only after the opposing 

party has had "adequate time for discovery." Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W.Va. 52, 

459 S.E.2d 329 (1995) (citations omitted). Further, "a decision for summary judgment before 

the completion of discovery is 'precipitous.'" Id. (quoting Firestone, Arch., Inc., 165 W.Va. at 

144, 267 S.E.2d at 443). CCMH moved for summary judgment despite its failure to take any 

discovery in this case - and its refusal to provide any meaningful responses to Dr. Nguyen's 

discovery requests or to permit depositions of its witnesses. 

The undisputed testimony of Rick Hamilton, cited at length above, suppOlis Dr. 

Nguyen's counterclaims. Further discovery will undoubtedly uncover additional support. Dr. 

Nguyen should be permitted to conduct his own discovery into CCMH's role in the revocation of 

his privileges at its facility and the real reasons underlying his termination, and the Circuit Court 

properly denied CCMH's Motion. 

D. CCMH is not immune from claims because it did not comply with its bylaws. 

CCMH focuses on Dr. Nguyen's alleged failure to exhaust the administrative remedies 

under CCMH's credentialing policy. CCMH ignores its own failure to provide Dr. Nguyen with 

proper notice as required under the credentialing policy or to respond to his request for 

temporary privileges to allow him to take his certification examination less than five months 

later.

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